# UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI Department of Forest Mensuration and Management

FORESTRY AND FOREST INDUSTRIES DEVELOPMENT PLAN IN THE STATE OF GUERRERO, MEXICO

Final Project Report

Helsinki 31 December 1985

## Table of Contents

1.	BACKGROUND	3
2.	OBJECTIVES	3
	2.1. Development Objectives	3
	2.2. Immediate Objectives	4
3.	PROJECT SCOPE AND PROGRESS OF WORK	5
	3.1. Project Components	5
	3.2. National Framework	6
	3.3. Background Studies	8
	3.4. Prefeasibility Studies	9
	3.5. Feasibility Studies	9
	3.6. Pilot Projects	11
	3.7. Other Projects	11
	3.8. Plan Integration	12
	3.9. Project Training Activities	13
4.	PROJECT TIME-SCHEDULE	14
5.	EVALUATION OF THE PROJECT	18
	5.1. Objectives and Their Achievement	18
	5.2. Problems	19
	5.3. Organization	20
	5.4. Time-Schedule	21
	5.5. Impact on Project Parties	21
6.	PENDING ACTIVITIES	23

#### 1. BACKGROUND

In July 1982 the Governments of Mexico and Finland signed an agreement to prepare jointly a development plan for forestry and forest industries in the state of Guerrero. The executing agencies were Subsecretaria Forestal (SF) of Secretaria de Agricultura y Recursos Hidraulicos (SARH) and the University of Helsinki, Department of Forest Mensuration and Management.

This report explains briefly the objectives and the main components of the project and the various activities carried out during the project from July 1982 to December 1985 containing general evaluation of the project.

Guerrero is one of the poorest and least developed states in Mexico. Forestry is believed to have an important development potential in Guerrero because of the existing resources which still remain largely unutilized. On the other hand, the difficult physical and social conditions represent obstacles which have not been easy to overcome and therefore a detailed planning effort throughout the project at hand was justified to improve the forestry sector's performance in Guerrero.

#### 2. OBJECTIVES

#### 2.1. Development Objectives

The development plan of the Guerrero forestry sector was aimed at contributing to the achievement of the following main development objectives:

- (1) increasing sectoral production thereby diversifying the State's economy which heavily relies on two main activities, agriculture and tourism;
- (2) improving the social and economic conditions of the rural population in Guerrero, including disposable income, employment, infrastructure, the availability and standard of social services, etc.;

(3) improving the State's environmental conditions as increased forestry activities would reduce rate of deforestation and forest degradation, and result in better watershed management and amelioration in the living conditions of forest fauna.

The planned activities were also congruent with the following national development objectives: 1)

- recover the nation's capacity
- satisfy the basic needs of the population (notably housing and firewood)
- generate employment and improve the quality of human resources
- improve distribution of income by social classes and regions
- decentralize economic and social activities.

## 2.2. Immediate Objectives

The main purpose of the project was to prepare a development plan for the forestry sector in Guerrero which would

- (1) define the qualitative and quantitative objectives;
- (2) specify activities, inputs and outputs in order to reach these objectives; this would include material, human and other aspects;
- (3) identify, appraise and prepare industrial and other projects which would be implemented during the plan period;
- (4) make recommendations how public forest administration and other related regulating and acting bodies could contribute to the achievement of the plan objectives including the organization Forestal Vicente Guerrero (FOVIG);
- (5) evaluate the effects of the plan at state and national level with regard to economic, social and environmental aspects; and
- (6) suggest measures to finance the various activities.

<sup>1)</sup> Plan Nacional de Desarrollo 1983-1988. Secretaria de Programación y Presupuesto. Mexico 1983.

The preparation of the Guerrero development plan was a pilot project which can serve as a basis for similar efforts in the other states of Mexico.

The project also aimed at considerable transfer of know-how from Finland to Mexico through

- the introduction and application of integrated planning of forestry and forest industries, including various analytic methods to be applied in forest inventories, management plans, project appraisal, etc.;
- training of Mexican key specialists;
- the provision of technical expert services to SARH and FOVIG; and
- exchange of research and development information and experience.

#### 3. PROJECT SCOPE AND PROGRESS OF WORK

## 3.1. Project Components

The preparation of the Guerrero forestry development plan was based on a study of the national framework of the sector, i.e. a long-term outlook of demand and supply trends and related geographical aspects. No comprehensive national development plan of forestry and forest industries exists as yet and therefore the framework study was deemed necessary to put development in Guerrero into perspective.

Based on the national framework, the overall objectives were derived for Guerrero. Having decided these objectives, a series of background studies was carried out together with a number of technical supporting activities. Then a number of industrial projects were identified for prefeasibility studies while the work continued on various forestry aspects.

Pilot projects were formulated to study the development alternatives and preparation of integrated forest management plan at ejidal level, and projects for industrial feasibility studies were identified. A forest inventory and management plan at regional level was also included in the work programme. The work continued on other development aspects, e.g. forestry training.

When these efforts had been completed, the various project components were integrated into a comprehensive development plan and plan effects were evaluated. The implementation of the planned activities started in 1985.

The project components are summarized in Figure 1.

## 3.2. National Framework

The <u>objectives</u> of the study of National Framework were to prepare a long-term (up to year 2000) demand and supply outlook for individual forest products at regional level; to study other input needs of the industry than wood (non-wood fibers, recycled paper, labour, energy, capital etc.); to study geographical aspects of future capacity development based on demand, supply and cost considerations; and finally to suggest guidelines for national development strategy.

The study was prepared in cooperation between the Dirección General de Programación y Presupuesto of the Subsecretaria Forestal and the University of Helsinki. Because of difficulties in obtaining background data the scope of the study was revised to cover on the supply - demand outlook only.

The most important conclusions of the study were:

- 1) The natural forests of Mexico have a greater production potential than their present production and with intensive forest management, it is possible to increase the production immediately.
- 2) Mexico has a theoretical surplus of the production of large-sized logs of about 22 million m<sup>3</sup> (1980).

Figure 1. Project Components - Forestry Sector Development Plan in Guerrero

On the contrary, the deficit of the production of pulpwood is 3.5. million m<sup>3</sup>. The future demand for pulpwood can only be satisfied with commercial plantations. In the year 2000 Mexico should have 320.000 ha of plantations while the existing area is only 85.000 ha (1982).

- 3) Deforestation caused by socioeconomic reasons and the basic needs for arable land by the rural people is a severe problem for forestry and environmental development. It was estimated that the present area of forest land (41.0 millions of hectares) will decrease to 25.8 millions of hectares in 2010, if action to change this tendency is not taken.
- 4) The principal product of forestry sector is firewood with an annual demand of 20 million m<sup>3</sup> which corresponds to 72 % of the total wood demand in Mexico. In the future, the consumption of firewood will gradually decrease because of limitations in production and socioeconomic reasons.

## 3.3. Background Studies

The objective was to collect and analyze available information on forestry and forest industries in Guerrero including field investigations on such subjects as land tenure, forest resources, silviculture and forest management, plantations, logging and transport, markets, industry and production costs, administration, fauna and socioeconomic aspects.

The background studies were carried out by Subsecretaria Forestal. They served in the identification of industrial development projects and the design of measures to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of forestry administration in Guerrero. A series of further studies (land tenure, plantations, silviculture, training, etc.) were also identified and designed at this stage.

## 3.4. Prefeasibility Studies

The techno-economic viability of seven industrial projects at prefeasibility level were analysed to find the possible solutions for utilization of Guerrero forest resources and in particular, the use of small-diameter logs from thinnings. The purpose was to identify viable forest industry projects for feasibility studies.

The cases studied were an ejido sawmill, a medium -size sawmill, a plywood mill, a particle board mill, a newsprint mill, a market pulp mill and an industrial paper mill.

It was concluded that the sawmills and plywood would warrant feasibility study. The cases of newsprint, market pulp and industrial paper mill at Zacatula at the frontier of Guerrero and Michoacan would not be viable. Furthermore, the mill would have to partly use forest resources in Michoacan but the viability of this option was not possible to be confirmed.

The industrial projects studied did not offer any major solution to the two key forestry problems, the utilization of oak and small-sized softwood logs. Moreover, the available data on forest resources were insufficient for investment decisions.

## 3.5. Feasibility Studies

The main objective of the feasibility studies was to prepare an integrated plan for the management and utilization of the forest resources in the Costa Grande region. For this purpose a forest inventory was carried out on those resources that were relevant as a raw material base for the proposed industrial units to be studied at feasibility level.

The techno-economic feasibility of a small ejidal sawmill, a medium-size sawmill, a plywood mill and a medium-scale pulp and paper mill were also studied.

A study on the impact of mill size on the economics of mechanical pulp-based paper production and chemical market pulp production in a more suitable location in Guerrero was carried out, and a subsequent feasibility study was prepared. The results of this study also served the formulation of the overall development strategy of pulp and paper industry in Mexico.

As a result of the forestry studies it was noticed that there exists a great need to improve the existing cutting methods and to start intensive management of the forest resources of the region. Still, the use of small-diameter wood from thinnings was a problem.

The Costa Grande zone has a theoretical annual production possibility of about  $514.000~\text{m}^3$  which is about seven times the present annual cut. The forest roads leading to the mountain area are in a very poor condition and their density is low in relation to the needs of logging and forest management. This is one of the main bottle necks of forestry development in Guerrero.

The following projects were found viable for industrial implementation: ejido sawmills, a medium-sized sawmill and a medium-sized plywood mill.

The pulp and paper industry was studied at different capacity levels and for alternative products. The only feasible location would be Tecpan de Galeana and an integration with mechanical wood industry was highly recommended in order to benefit from the use of wood residues, joint maintenance services and better energy management.

The profitability of the market pulp production was insufficient in commercial terms but it is possible that it could be justified based on national economic considerations and social development. Moreover, the pulp mill project would enable a change in the current forest management practice into a more intensive one resulting in subsequent increase in sawlog production. However, it appears that the wood supply of the natural

forests would not be sufficient for the pulp mill and plantations would be required. Additional studies would be necessary to promote the project.

## 3.6. Pilot Projects

The objective was to study various combinations of economic forestry activity at different levels of intensity and participation by local population in an ejido to establish suitable project profiles for financing and to study various socioeconomic aspects of development at grassroot level. For this purpose, a group of twelve Finnish forestry students spent about four months in the ejido Las Compuertas and prepared an integrated forestry development plan for the ejido.

The most important conclusions of the study were: It is imperative to increase the participation of the local population in the production process. Forestry education and training are necessary to increase the interest of the people in forestry and to improve confidence between ejidatarians, the local authorities and the industry. With intensive forest management the production possibilities can be multiplied (from 13.000 m³/year to 39.000 m³/year in the case of Las Compuertas), as well as the rural income from forestry.

### 3.7. Other Projects

A number of special problems related to forestry development in Guerrero were studied and solutions were suggested. The topics included forest administration, land tenure, social development, training, silviculture and management, logging and transport, fuelwood and charcoal, utilization of oak. These activities were mainly carried out by Subsecretaria Forestal.

During the project period, the clarification of the land tenure situation advanced, improved rural ovens were introduced in villages, permanent sample plots were established and the utilization of Guerrero oak was started by the existing industry.

## 3.8. Plan Integration

The results of the various studies were incorporated into a comprehensive development plan which specified the present situation, the suggested long-term output targets, investment and training requirements, the suggested rationalization of organization and administration, etc.

According to the study the forest resources of Guerrero are subutilized. The annual allowable cut is 1 million cubic meters of which less than 20 % is cut. The main limitations for increasing the use of the forests are socioeconomic by character. The poor condition and scarcity of the forest roads as well as the old and ineffective existing forest industry are the main physical bottlenecks in developing forestry sector in Guerrero.

The strategy of forestry development in Guerrero is based on finding adequate use for every type of roundwood, establishing sufficient infrastructure and moving into intensive forest management with strong participation by the owners of the forest resources.

According to the plan the investment projects of two small -scale ejidal sawmills, one medium-scale sawmill, and a plywood mill can be realised immediately, but other industrial projects need more detailed studies. Furthermore, the existing mills could be substantially improved by training and minor investments.

All the activities for the development of forestry sector have to be supported by forestry education and training which has been programmed to include about 2000 persons by 1990.

The reorganization and rationalization should begin by the decentralization of FOVIG to Guerrero. Also the definition of responsibility areas between Programa Forestal and FOVIG and their smooth cooperation is necessary in the future. These measures started late 1985.

The plan effects were quantified with regard to main economic and social criteria. It was evaluated that SARH and other involved institutions need an average of MEP 1250 millions annually for the supporting activities in the forestry sector. One justification of the programme is the direct generation of permanent employment for about 3400 people (three times the present amount), six times better income for the rural population than the present level and a positive impact of MEP 10.350 millions to the balance of payment and other positive impacts on the integral rural development and the protection of environment.

## 3.9. Project Training Activities

The objective of training during the project period was to strenghten the capability of Mexican specialists working in the preparation of the Guerrero development plan in selected skills related to forestry and forest industries.

For this purpose four study groups visited Finland to get acquainted with various solutions related to forestry and forest industry planning, silviculture and forest management, social forest development, forestry administration, and forest education.

Several missions of Finnish specialists were made to Guerrero to give on-the-job training on such aspects as forest inventory, silviculture and forest management, logging and transportation, sawmilling, sectoral and industrial planning.

Moreover, three training events were arranged in Mexico during the project covering logging, integrated forestry planning and preparation of forest management plans. Furthermore, a manual was compiled for the preparation of forest management plans at ejidal level. A computer programme on the evaluation of forestry and forest industry projects was prepared to be regularly used by the Mexican authorities. Project documents were in general designed with the aim of serving as a model for similar studies to be carried out elsewhere in Mexico.

#### 4. PROJECT TIME-SCHEDULE

The project began officially in the year 1982 when the project organization was created and the backround studies started. The first meeting of the Coordinating Committee was held in Mexico August 1983. During the project period there was a meeting of the Coordinating Committee or another project coordination mission to Mexico on an average every five months. The general progress of the different studies of the project is presented in Figure 2.

Most of the background studies were completed by Subsecretaria Forestal and delivered in Finland by the end of 1982.

The prefeasibility studies of the forest resources and forest industry were started October 1982 and the reports were delivered both in English and Spanish in March 1983 by the consultant, Jaakko Pöyry International Oy.

During the year 1983 four training missions of Mexican specialists (totally 13 persons) were carried out to Finland and the two/three week programmes were arranged to each of them by the University of Helsinki. The specialization fields of the groups were:

- Forest management, silviculture, plantations and logging & transport (29 May to 12 June 1983);
- Social forestry development and forestry administration (9 to 30 October 1983);
- Forestry education (9 to 23 October 1983);
- Forestry and forest industries planning (9 to 30 October 1983).

The formal training events in Mexico were arranged as follows:

- a logging course for forest technicians in Tecpan de Galeana, Gro (13 to 28 February 1985);
- a seminar "Forestry planning for integrated development" in Taxco, Gro (16 to 18 April 1985);

<del>2</del>86 <del>1</del>86 口 B 目 1984 1984 0 0  $\geq$ 目 86 Figure 2. Project Progress 88 目 - mechanical wood industry 9. Presentation and diffusion - pulp and paper industry 1. Coordinating Committee 4. Prefeasibility studies 5. Feasibility studies 8. Plan integration and 2. National framework 3. Background studies 7. Other projects 6. Pilot projects - forestry evaluation 10. Training Activity

Training mission to Finland Training course in Mexico

° Project coordination mission to Mexico \*Meeting of the Coordinating Committee

- a training course "Preparation of forest management plans at ejidal level" in the Costa Grande region, Gro (9 September to 4 October 1985).

On-the-job training was an important part of the project during the whole project period, most effectively in the fields of forest inventory and plan integration.

The inventory of the forest resources of the Costa Grande region was originally planned to be started in late 1983 but because of some delays in mapping the fieldwork was started in February 1984 and finalized by June 1985. The inventory report was delivered by the end of 1985 and the forest management and road construction plan for the region prepared by June 1985.

The feasibility studies both in mechanical forest industry and pulp & paper industry were started in the first guarter of 1984 by Schauman Engineering and CTS Engineering respectively. The study of mechanical wood industry was completed by the end of 1984, and the pulp & paper study by July 1985 because an extension was deemed necessary. The delays in the information of forest resource data were reflected on the progress of these works.

The pilot study for the preparation of integrated forestry development plan for the ejido Las Compuertas by twelve Finnish forestry students was started in Mexico February 1984, the fieldwork was finalized in June 1984 and the three-volume report delivered in January 1985.

The plan integration started already in 1984 both in Finland and Mexico, but it was finalized by Ing. Victor Sosa Cedillo with the help of Mexican and Finnish specialists by July 1985. The second edition of the integrated plan document was delivered September 1985 in Mexico. The printing and diffusion of the document was planned to start in Mexico by the end of 1985.

The study of National Framework was started already in 1982 by Subsecretaria Forestal in Mexico, but because of some delays and difficulties in data processing, the final report was completed only by June 1985.

The contents of the integrated plan are outlined in Appendix 4.

#### 5. EVALUATION OF THE PROJECT

Evaluation of the project means the comparison between the objectives of the project and their fulfillment. Also the impacts of the work effort on both parties, in this case the Mexican forest administration and the University of Helsinki in Finland, have to be evaluated. At the moment, the time is not very appropriate for the evaluation because the effects of the project can be observed only in the long run. The Guerrero project is only a time-slice in integrated forestry planning and its final evaluation can only be done after a long time period when the realization of the objectives and subprojects can be seen. For that reason, the final evaluation should be done after 2-5 years.

## 5.1. Objectives and Their Achievement

By and large, all the immediate objectives of the project were completed with regard to the preparation of the plan and the transfer of know-how.

One of the main aspects of the plan was the introduction of the intensive forest management methods. This task had been started as a less formal Finnish-Mexican cooperation effort in some states of Mexico already in the 1960s.

The integrated plan was aimed at serving long-term forestry planning in Guerrero. Its implementation began already in 1985 while the latest activities of the project were still going on. The plan outlines the activities of the state's forestry policy in the long run. It is a pilot study and the Mexican forestry administration has plans to initiate similar planning exercises in a selected number of states following the methodology developed in Guerrero.

The project did not succeed in one of its objectives: to find immediate solution for the problem of small-diameter logs from thinnings. This would still require more studies. On the other hand, it could be proved that, from the economic point of view, the problem is not a restrictive factor to move towards intensive forest management.

The aim of the study of the National Framework of forestry sector was mainly to stimulate integrated forestry planning in the country. For that purpose, basic information on forestry sector had to be collected at state and national levels. This revealed deficiencies in the basic information on the sector. The study outlined the basic methodology of forestry planning at the national level and was partly contributing to the plans to start the preparation of the national forest policy programme called PRONABOSE 2010.

It goes without saying that the Guerrero plan has to be continuously revised and updated because of the changing situation in markets, administration, etc. Such revisions would be relatively easy to carry out by the Mexican authorities.

During the 9th World Forestry Congress in July 1985, the Government of Finland was given a prize for the development of Mexico's forestry sector, thanks to the Guerrero project.

#### 5.2. Problems

During the early stages of the project, the existing information on the forest resources of Guerrero was considered better than it was. As a result, the industrial prefeasibility studies were carried out early in view of the availability of reliable information on the supply of raw material.

Were the project redone, better information on forest resources would be collected before carrying out industrial studies at project level. The main reason why the prefeasibility studies were carried out so early was the pressing need to obtain viable industrial investment projects as early as possible which is a typical situation in this kind of planning effort. These projects were considered one of the main rationales of the project.

The number of viable industrial investment projects (4) was smaller than originally expected, in spite of the use of the know-how of three different consultants. This reflects difficulties related to the development of forestry sector in Guerrero. However, the progress is possible if the organizational and financial efforts are combined to achieve the objectives of the development plan.

On the other hand, it was supposed that the prefeasibility studies could have been like catalysts for the same kind of projects in other states of Mexico. This has not yet been the case although some indirect influence on industrial planning can be noticed.

Technically the Guerrero project probably met the general standards of this kind of studies. The most severe problems and bottlenecks were found in socioeconomic and administrative aspects which can only be solved by local specialists. The main task of foreign know-how can only be to give methodological support in project management, to carry out specialized technical and economic analysis and to train the local staff in the necessary fields.

#### 5.3. Organization

For the preparation of the plan, an <u>ad hoc</u> project organization was created on both sides. The local Mexican authorities including the line organization were all the time deeply involved in the work.

The purpose of the forestry development plan for Guerrero was not only to list objectives, tasks and various improvement measures but to create changes in attitudes and skills. The activities were carried out at the same time in all organizational levels. This was very important and fruitful and should be considered in the implementation of similar projects in the future.

## 5.4. Time-Schedule

The Guerrero project was an arduous task and required a rather long time period, because training and transfer of knowledge cannot be absorbed by the recipients during a short period. Partly because of unexpected organizational changes and delays in the execution of some studies, the project period was finally six months to one year longer than what was planned. The study required also much greater effort by both Finnish and Mexican parties than originally planned but the budget was exceeded only slightly.

Because of the long time period of the project it was ideal that the work was supervised by an educational organization (University of Helsinki) and not by a consultant. Therefore, the project costs remained also at a moderate level if the achieved results are considered.

## 5.5. Impact on Project Parties

The preparation of the forestry development plan for Guerrero was a challenging task which substantially contributed to the knowledge and experience of both the Mexican and Finnish parties. The project was a unique effort in the history of Mexican forestry administration. For the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki it was the largest international cooperation project executed until today.

The most effective impact of the project in Mexico will possibly come indirectly through training and by changes in the attitudes at all organizational levels. The emphasis was to reorientate the attitude of forest administration from protective to productive, i.e. a change from traditional to intensive forest management.

The emphasis was to keep the Mexican participation at the highest possible level and to concentrate the Finnish executing agency on the transfer of methodology through on-the-job training and

advice, study trips of the Mexican personnel, courses, seminars etc. The integrated Plan document will be printed in Mexico for the diffusion to the whole country.

At the University of Helsinki and in Finland in general the project had a great positive impact on the training of specialists through professional on-the-job training in a foreign country. It goes without saying that directly or undirectly, thanks to the Guerrero project, Finland will double forestry experts in command of Spanish. In the field of research, eight thesis based on the data collected during the fieldwork period are in the progress. One thesis has already been completed.

New forest management methods, forest inventories, industrial pulpwood plantation experiments and forestry training require a long time period to be adopted by the host country. The Guerrero project has accelerated this process. Mexican forest authorities are now largely capable to carry out the majority of these tasks and they only would need some external assistance.

The Mexican party has already expressed its wish for the continuation of the Finnish-Mexican cooperation in forestry sector in the form of another project at national level.

#### 6. PENDING ACTIVITIES

The project was officially terminated in the meeting of the Coordinating Committee in July 1985 but a number of activities still continued until the end of 1985.

As a result of the project, Mexico is in the process of ordering a Finnish-made small-scale sawmill as a pilot unit for ejidal sawmills. If the mill is successful several dozens of such units would be needed in the whole country in the long run. It is necessary that when the pilot sawmill is established, Finland provides development assistance to train the personnel of this unit as this training cannot be arranged on a commercial basis.

Even in case the overall technical assistance programme would not continue, the training related to the pilot sawmill should be arranged. Two Finnish specialists would be needed for about 2-3 months in Guerrero to provide assistance, perhaps including two missions.

#### PROJECT ORGANIZATION

## Activity

- 1. Project coordination
- 2. National Framework
- 3. Background studies
- 4. Prefeasibility studies
- 5. Feasibility studies
  - forestry studies
  - mechanical wood industry
  - pulp and paper industry
- 6. Pilot projects
- 7. Other projects
- 8. Plan integration and evaluation

## Executing agency

SF/UH1)

SF-Dirección General

de Programación

y Presupuesto/UH

Jaakko Pöyry International

UH/SF

SF

Schauman Engineering

CTS Engineering

SF/UH

SF/UH

SF/UH

<sup>1)</sup> SF = Subsecretaria Forestal
 UH = University of Helsinki

## The main reports of the project

- Administrative agreement of the technical and financial cooperation for the formulation of a Development Plan for Forestry and Forest Industries in the State of Guerrero, Mexico between the Government of the Republic of Finland represented by the Ministry for Foreign Affairs (Embassy of Finland in Mexico) and the Government of Mexico represented by the Ministry of Agriculture and Hydraulic Resources (Under Ministry of Forestry and Wildlife).
- CTS Engineering (SARH-SFF). January 1985. Development Plan for Pulp and Paper Industry in the State of Guerrero. Prefeasibility Study on Small Scale Pulp Mill, both Small and Medium Size Paper Mill for Wood Containing Paper Grades. Kouvola. Finland.
- CTS Engineering (SARH-SFF). June 1985. Development Plan for Pulp and Paper Industry in the State of Guerrero. Follow-up Study on Small Scale Pulp Mill. Kouvola. Finland.
- Granholm, H., Muuttomaa, P., Nikinmaa, E., Salmi, J. and Siltanen, M. Abril 1985. Guía para la preparación de Plan de Manejo Forestal para fines de desarrollo integral forestal a nivel predial. Curso de planificación forestal para el desarrollo integral. Borrador. Taxco, Guerrero.
- Jaakko Pöyry. SARH-SFF. Unidad de Apoyo Técnico. May 1983.

  Development Plan for Forestry and Forest Industries in the State of Guerrero. Prefeasibility Studies on Seven Preselected Industrial Projects. Helsinki.

Volume 1. Main report

Volume 2. Forestry studies

Volume 2. Forestry studies. Appendixes.

Volume 3. Market analysis

Volume 4. Ejido sawmill

Volume 5. Medium sawmill

Volume 6. Plywood mill

Volume 7. Particleboard mill

Volume 8. Newsprint mill

Volume 9. Market pulp mill

Volume 10. Industrial paper mill

Volume 11. Other aspects

- Kai Christiansen Ky. Diciembre 1983. Plan de desarrollo de los recursos e industrias forestales del Estado de Guerrero. Desarrollo de los aserraderos existentes de Forestal "Vicente Guerrero".

  Hecho para: Universidad de Helsinki, Departamento de Mensuración y Manejo Forestal. Kangasala.
- Kanninen, M. 6.4.1984. Forest Plantation in the Central Part of the Costa Grande Zone. Development Plan for Forestry and Forest Industries in the State of Guerrero, México.
- Lakio, L. Mayo 1983. Extracción y transporte de madera en los bosques del Estado de Guerrero. Proyecto de desarrollo forestal y de la industria maderera en el Estado de Guerrero, México.
- Mayoral, P.G. Abril 1985. Clasificación de la vegetación y el uso de la tierra en México. Curso de planificación forestal para el desarrollo integral. Taxco, Guerrero.
  - " Abril 1985. Tenencia de la Tierra Estado de Guerrero. Curso de planificación forestal para el desarrollo integral. Taxco, Guerrero.
- Mota Villanueva, J.L.B. Abril 1985. Cálculos financieros y económicos. Curso de planificación forestal para el desarrollo integral. Taxco, Guerrero.
- Muuttomaa, P. Julio 1985. Programa de capacitación forestal para el estado de Guerrero. Universidad de Helsinki. Departamento de Dasometría y Manejo Forestal. Helsinki.
- Nyyssönen, A., Simula, M. 1985. Integrated Planning of Forestry Development as a Cooperative Effort: the Case of Guerrero State in Mexico. (Sumario: Planificación integrada del desarrollo forestal como un esfuerzo cooperativo: el caso del Estado de Guerrero en México. Resume: Planification integree du developpement forestier dans le cadre des efforts de cooperation: le cas de l'Etat de Guerrero au Mexique). 9th World forestry Congress, Mexico.
- Plan integral de desarrollo forestal del ejido Las Compuertas.
  Enero 1985. (Borg, H., Fontell, H., Granholm, H.,
  Hytönen, M., Muuttomaa, P., Nikinmaa, E., Nygren, P.,
  Peltonen, J., Piispa, P., Salmi, J., Siitonen, J.,
  Simonen, M., Siltanen, M.: Resumen.) Acuerdo administrativo México-Finlandia. Plan de desarrollo forestal
  del Estado de Guerrero, México, Universidad de Helsinki.
  Departamento de Dasometría y Manejo Forestal.

Tomo 1. Informe principal Tomo 2. Plan de manejo

Tomo 3. Metodología

Programa a Largo Plazo para el Desarrollo Forestal Integrado del Estado de Guerrero. SARH-SF. Delegación en Guerrero. Universidad de Helsinki. Departamento de Dasometría y Manejo Forestal. Septiembre 1985. Helsinki.

- SARH-SFF. Unidad de apoyo técnico. Plan de desarrollo forestal del Estado de Guerrero.
  - Estudio básico de administración. Octubre 1982.
  - - " " No. 1. "Aspectos socioeconómicos".

Anteproyecto de investigación. Abril 1982.

- Estudio básico No. 11. Reporte final. Octubre 1982.

Volumen 1. Documento básico

Volumen 2. Anexos

Volumen 3. Album fotográfico

- Estudio básico No. 5. Extracción y transporte. Octubre 1982.
- Estudio básico de fauna silvestre. Noviembre 1982.
- - " de industrias y costos. Noviembre 1982.
- - " de mercados. Noviembre 1982.
- - " No. 4. Plantaciones forestales.

Octubre 1982.

- Estudio básico de resursos forestales. Noviembre 1982.
- - " de silvicultura y manejo. Noviembre 1982.
- - " de tenencia de la tierra. Noviembre 1982.
- Schauman Engineering. October 1984. Feasibility study for development of mechanical forest industries in the State of Guerrero, Mexico. Report to SARH-SF, Mexico. Jyväskylä. Finland.
- Sevola, Y. Enero 1985. Inventario de los bosques comerciales de la región Costa Grande del Estado de Guerrero. Informe. (Acuerdo administrativo México-Finlandia). Universidad de Helsinki. Departamento de Dasometría y Manejo Forestal. Helsinki.
- Simula, M. 1985. Marco de Referencia Nacional para el Desarrollo del Sector Forestal en México. Universidad de Helsinki. Departamento de Economía Forestal.

Tomo 1 Tomo 2

- Siren, G., Kanninen, M. November 1982. Management Practices and Forest Plantations. Development Plan for Forestry and Forest Industries in the State of Guerrero, Mexico.
- Sosa Cedillo, V. Abril 1985. Administración y organización. Curso de planificación forestal para el desarrollo integral. Programa de desarrollo forestal del estado de Guerrero. Taxco, Guerrero.
  - " Abril 1985. Aspectos generales sobre el recurso actual y plan de manejo. Curso de planificación forestal para el desarrollo integral. Taxco, Guerrero.
- Veijalainen, P. Enero 1985. Plan general de ordenación forestal para los bosques comerciales de la zona Costa Grande (Subáreas de abastecimiento La Laguna, El Balcón, Toro Muerto). Plan de desarrollo forestal y de las industrias forestales del estado de Guerrero. Universidad de Helsinki. Departamento de Dasometría y Manejo Forestal. Helsinki.

## PARTICIPANTS OF THE PROJECT

#### COORDINATING COMMITTEE

Ing. León Jorge Castaños Martínez

- Subsecretary of Forests

- President of the Coordinating Committee

Lic. Santiago Meyer

- Ambassador

- Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Mexico

Lic. Alvaro Urreta Fernandez

- Government of the State of Guerrero

Ing. Raul Cataño Arratia

- General Director of Forestal Vicente Guerrero

Lic. Pedro Ernesto del Castillo Cueva

- General Director of Forest Programming and Evaluating Ing. Jesus Velarde G.

- Representant of the SARH in Guerrero

Lic. Bernardo Palomera de la Paz

- Adviser of the Governor of the State of Guerrero

Mr. Jussi Montonen (later Mr. Pentti Talvitie)

- Ambassador

- Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland

#### MEXICAN COORDINATOR

Ing. Victor E. Sosa Cedillo
- Director of Forestry Programme in Guerrero

#### FINNISH COORDINATOR

Dr. Aarne Nyyssönen
- Director of the Finnish Forest Research Institute

#### MEXICAN SPECIALISTS

Ing. José Luis Mota VillanuevaNational Framework and market studiesIng. Pedro García MayoralProject of the Land Tenure regulation

Ing. Cándido Pérez Romero

- the studies of forest resources and harvesting and wood transport

- Collaborators:

Ing. Higinio Padilla García

Ing. Miguel Ruíz Altamirano

Ing. Ruben Medina Bermudez

Ing. Carlos Rodriguez Franco

Ing. Birgilio Zambrano García

## Ing. Felipe Burgos Martínez

- the study of silviculture and forest management

- Collaborators:

Ing. Miguel Angel Olayo G.

Ing. Aaron Mastache Mondragon

Ing. Paulino Rosales

Ing. Jorge Trevino García

Sr. Lorenzo Patiño Mendoza

Ing. Carlos Gonzales Vicente

- the study of forest plantations
- Collaborators:

Ing. Othon Yanes Marquez

Ing. Fernando Patiño V.

Ing. Octavio Murillo Olayo

- the study of forest industries and costs
- Collaborators:

Ing. Jorge Rojas

Ing. David Zavala

Ing. Bernardo Reyes Rodríguez

- the study of administration
- Collaborators:

Ing. René Arroyo Boyzo

Ing. Abel López Caballero

Mvz. Antonio Castilleja

- the study of forest fauna
- Collaborators:

Mvz. Laune Avila

Ing. Augusto Castañeda

Biol. Javier de la Maza

Ing. Juan Carlos Piña

- the study of socioeconomic aspects

Ing. Rafael Avila Roldán

- the project of forestry training

Ing. Miguel Angel Olayo G.

- the project of silviculture and forest management
- Collaborators in the forest inventory of the region Costa Grande:
  - T.F. Juán Manuel Alfaro Mejía
  - T.F. José Guadalupe Bello Jiménez
  - T.F. Miguel Catalán Vásquez
  - T.F. Francisco Sanches Macías
  - T.F. Alfredo Jaímes Gutierres
  - T.F. Salvador Rebolledo Orbe
  - T.F. Juan Enrique Urías Cienfuegos
  - T.F. Martín Pureco Servín
  - T.F. Raúl Molina Morales
  - T.F. Jorge Isidro Escobar
  - T.F. Azael López Quiterio
  - T.F. Gerardo Vargas Garnelo
  - Mr. Emilio Pineda

(Forestry Programme of Guerrero)

#### Other Collaborators:

Ing. Alvaro Sergio Cruz Rosa

- Chairman of the Subprogramme Forestry Development

Ing. Andrés Najera Vuelvas

- Chairman of the Operative zone No. 1

Ing. Candelario Santiago Solis

- Technical Director of the UAF No. 1

Ing. José Pérez Ruíz

- Technical Director of the UAF No. 2

Lic. José Lluvias Tenorio

- Chairman of the Subprogramme Forest Programming and Evaluation

Elba Calvo Cabrera, Secretary

MA. de los Angeles Pérez Alarcón Secretary

- (Forestry Programme of Guerrero)

## University of Helsinki

Eng. Kai Christiansen
- development of the present sawmills of FOVIG

Ms. Leena Jukka
- increment studies

Mr. Pauli Kainulainen, M.Sc. For.data processing of the results of the forest inventory of the region Costa Grande

Dr. Markku Kanninen
- the study of forest management and forest plantations

Mr. Leevi Lakio, M.Sc. For. - logging and wood transport in Guerrero

Ms. Hannele Leiwo - secretary

Mr. Pekka Muuttomaa
- the study of forestry training in Guerrero

Mr. Tapani Oksanen, M.Sc. For.
- technical secretary

Mr. Esko Pakkanen, M.Sc. For. - observations of the forest resources in Guerrero

Dr. Päiviö Riihinen
- social forestry development in the State of Guerrero

Lic. For. Yrjö Sevola - forest inventory of the region Costa Grande

Mr. Markku Siltanen, M.Sc. For.

- technical secretary

- field work of the forest inventory

Dr. Markku Simula
- plan integration and general advice
- national framework

Dr. Gustav Sirén
- the study of forest management and plantations

Mr. Arno Uusvaara, M.Sc. For.- observations of the improvement of forest maps in Guerrero and determination of the use of forest resources

Mr. Pertti Veijalainen, M.Sc. For.
- cutting possibilities and logging & transport
- representant of the project in Mexico

Ms. Heli Borg

Ms. Hanna Fontell

Mr. Heikki Granholm

Ms. Marjatta Hytönen

Mr. Pekka Muuttomaa

Mr. Eero Nikinmaa

Mr. Pekka Nygren

Mr. Jorma Peltonen

Ms. Päivi Piispa

Mr. Jyrki Salmi, M.Sc. For.

Mr. Juha Siitonen

Ms. Merja Simonen

- pilot project of the ejido Las Compuertas

Mr. Henrik Luikko

Ms. Marjatta Määttä

Mr. Hannu Pelkonen

Ms. Birgitta Rasi-Dovalo

Ms. Aune Rytkönen

Ms. Marta Silva-Kekki

Mr. Heikki Suomala

Ms. Sirkka Säynäjäkangas

Mr. Tuomo Utriainen

- supporting and assisting works

Ms. Tuula Jakowleff

Mr. Gerardo Mery, M.Sc. For.

- language checking

## Consultants

CTS Engineering

prefeasibility and feasibility studies of pulp and paper industry

Jaakko Pöyry International

- prefeasibility studies of seven preselected industrial projects

Schauman Engineering

- feasibility study of mechanical forest industry

## Embassy of Finland

Ms. Lupita Altamirano

Ms. Mercedes Escobar

Mr. Henrik Moliis

Mr. Aapo Pölhö

#### CONTENTS OF THE INTEGRATED PLAN

#### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

#### SUMMARY

- 1. INTRODUCTION
- 2. PLANNING METHODOLOGY
- 3. NATIONAL FRAMEWORK (Potential of development)
- 4. FORESTRY DIAGNOSTIC OF GUERRERO
  - 4.1. Social aspects
  - 4.2. Land tenure
  - 4.3. Forest resources
  - 4.4. Forest production
  - 4.5. Logging and transport
  - 4.6. Forest industries
  - 4.7. Principal observations
- 5. OBJECTIVES
- 6. DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY
- 7. DEVELOPMENT OF THE FOREST RESOURCES
  - 7.1. Land tenure
  - 7.2. Land use
  - 7.3. Silviculture and forest management
    - 7.3.1. General aspects
    - 7.3.2. Production possibilities
    - 7.3.3. Forestry production at predial level
    - 7.3.4. Forest plantations
- 8. DEVELOPMENT OF INFRASTRUCTURE AND LOGGING
  - 8.1. Infrastructure8.2. Logging
- 9. DEVELOPMENT OF THE FOREST INDUSTRIES
  - 9.1. General aspects
  - 9.2. Actual industry
  - 9.3. Investment projects
    - 9.3.1. Mechanical forest industry
    - 9.3.2. Projects for pulp and paper
  - 9.4. Wood balance and possibilities of industrial development
- 10. SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT
  - 10.1. General aspects
  - 10.2. Incorporation of the forest owners in forestry production
  - 10.3. Rural kilns for firewood
- 11. FORESTRY TRAINING
  - 11.1. General aspects
  - 11.2. Training needs
  - 11.3. Programme
  - 11.4. Organization 11.5. Financing
- 12. PROTECTION; FOMENTATION AND RESEARCH
  - 12.1. Protection and fomentation
  - 12.2. Research
- 13. ADMINISTRATION AND ORGANIZATION
  - 13.1. Regulation, support and control
  - 13.2. Logging and transport 13.3. Industrialization

  - 13.4. Participation of the state

- 13.5. Functions of forestal Vicente Guerrero
- 13.6. Participation of private industry
- 14. FINANCING
  - 14.1. Investment projects for forest industies
  - 14.2. Supporting projects
  - 14.3. Distribution of the responsibilities
- 15. EVALUATION OF THE PLAN
  - 15.1. General aspects
  - 15.2. Employment
  - 15.3. Income
    - 15.3.1. Salaries
    - 15.3.2. Wood price in the forest and utilities
    - 15.3.3. Total rural income
    - 15.3.4. Income for the transporters
    - 15.3.5. Income for technical forest services
  - 15.3.6. Indirect income 15.4. Payment balance

  - 15.5. Rural and regional development
  - 15.6. Technological aspects
  - 15.7. Ecological effects
  - 15.8. Financial and economic analysis
- 16. RECOMMENDATIONS

#### APPENDIXES

- 1. THE MAIN REPORTS OF THE PROJECT
- 2. PARTICIPANTS